

Facultad de Filosofía, Letras y Ciencias de la Educación Carrera Pedagogía de los Idiomas Nacionales y Extranjeros

Effects of Using Visual, Auditory, and ICT Tools on Suprasegmental Features of Pronunciation in ESL/EFL Classrooms

Trabajo de titulación previo a la obtención del título de Licenciado en Pedagogía del Idioma Inglés

Autores:

Kevin Alexander Córdova Loja Anthony Bryam Tello Guamán

Director:

Monica Patricia Abad Celleri

ORCID: 00000-0001-8381-5982

Cuenca, Ecuador

2024-03-05



Resumen

La presente síntesis de investigación tuvo como objetivo analizar los efectos de diferentes materiales de enseñanza - audiovisuales, auditivos y TICs - en la adquisición de características suprasegmentales del inglés, así como también analizar las ventajas y desventajas de este tipo de materiales. Para este propósito, se examinaron veinte artículos (todos empíricos, escritos en inglés y enfocados en características suprasegmentales del inglés) de acuerdo con los siguientes criterios: enseñanza de la pronunciación, enfoque, contexto, diseño de investigación y ventajas y desventajas de los materiales de enseñanza de pronunciación. Los resultados de este análisis indican que el uso de materiales de enseñanza audiovisuales, auditivos y TICs produce mejoras en el aprendizaje de características suprasegmentales; sin embargo, el uso de materiales audiovisuales supera al uso de los otros tipos de materiales, siendo los materiales auditivos los menos utilizados. Además, se encontraron algunas desventajas del uso de estos materiales de enseñanza. Por lo tanto, los profesores deben emplear materiales de enseñanza audiovisuales, auditivos y TICs para enseñar características suprasegmentales teniendo en cuenta las desventajas que su aplicación puede conllevar.

Palabras clave: material audiovisual, aprendizaje visual, característica suprasegmental





El contenido de esta obra corresponde al derecho de expresión de los autores y no compromete el pensamiento institucional de la Universidad de Cuenca ni desata su responsabilidad frente a terceros. Los autores asumen la responsabilidad por la propiedad intelectual y los derechos de autor.

Repositorio Institucional: https://dspace.ucuenca.edu.ec/



Abstract

This research synthesis aimed at analyzing the effects of different teaching materials – audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials – on the acquisition of English suprasegmental features as well as the advantages and disadvantages of these types of materials. For this purpose, twenty articles (all empirical, written in English, and focused on English suprasegmental features) were examined according to the following criteria: pronunciation teaching, focus, context, research design, and advantages and disadvantages of the pronunciation teaching materials. The results from this analysis indicate that the use of audiovisual, auditory, and ICT teaching materials yields improvements in the learning of suprasegmental features; however, the use of audiovisual materials outnumbers the use of the other types of materials, auditory materials being the least used. Moreover, some drawbacks of using these teaching materials were pinpointed. Therefore, teachers should employ audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials for teaching suprasegmental features taking into consideration the drawbacks that their application may entail.

Keywords: audiovisul material, visual learning, suprasegmental characteristic





The content of this work corresponds to the right of expression of the authors and does not compromise the institutional thinking of the University of Cuenca, nor does it release its responsibility before third parties. The authors assume responsibility for the intellectual property and copyrights.

Institutional Repository: https://dspace.ucuenca.edu.ec/



Table of Contents

Resumen	2
Abstract	3
List of Tables	6
Acknowledgments	7
Dedication	8
Introduction	9
CHAPTER I: Description of the Study	10
1.1 Background	10
1.2 Problem Statement	11
1.3 Rationale	13
1.4 Research Question	13
1.5 Objectives	14
1.5.1 General Objective	14
1.5.2 Specific Objectives	14
Chapter II: Theoretical Framework and Literature Review	15
2.1 Theoretical Framework	15
2.1.1 English Pronunciation: Segmentals and Suprasegmentals	15
2.1.2 Pronunciation Teaching Strategies	15
2.1.3 Visual, Auditory, and ICT Tools for Teaching Pronunciation	16
2.2 Literature Review	17
2.2.1 Audiovisual Aids for Improving Pronunciation	17
2.2.2 Auditory Aids for Improving Pronunciation	19
2.2.3 ICT Tools for Improving Pronunciation	19
Chapter III: Methodology	23
Chapter IV: Data Analysis	25
4. Data Analysis	25
4.1 Pronunciation Teaching Materials	25

UCUENCA

4.2 Focus, Context, and Research Design	26
4.3 Advantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials	29
4.4 Disadvantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials	32
Chapter V: Conclusions and Recommendations	34
5.1 Conclusions	34
5.2 Recommendations	36
References	37



List of Tables

Table 1 Pronunciation Teaching Materials	. 33
Table 2 Focus, Context, and Research Design	34
Table 3 Advantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials	39
Table 4 Disadvantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials	43



Acknowledgments

We would like to express our deepest gratitude to our admirable and respectable thesis director, Dr. Mónica Abad, for supporting and having patience through this long journey, which took longer than expected. Her invaluable guidance and profound knowledge in the field were instrumental in making this research paper possible. Despite the challenges encountered along the journey, marked by both highs and lows, we, as classmates and friends, persevered in our pursuit of the shared aspiration to become English teachers. Moreover, we gratefully acknowledge the support and inspiration received from our teachers throughout our academic formation. Firstly, our heartfelt gratitude goes to Dr. Tammy Fajardo. We express our sincere thanks for her invaluable guidance in the initial stages of our thesis and the inspiration derived from her engaging classes. Secondly, we extend our sincere appreciation to Dr. María Verónica León whose exceptional classes stand out as the finest we have ever experienced. Her dynamic teaching methods and infectious enthusiasm not only inspired us but also instilled new perspectives on imparting the beauty of the English language, shaping our journey toward becoming English teachers. Thirdly, our appreciation extends to Professor Sandra Cabrera, who imparted the foundational principles of research during our early college years. Similarly, we acknowledge Dr. Juanita Argudo, whose warmth and professionalism served as a source of inspiration in our formation. Last but not least, we want to acknowledge all the people classmates and friends – who gave us a helping hand during our college journey.



Dedication

First of all, I would like to dedicate this project wholeheartedly to my mom, Mery, for her unconditional support, especially in the most challenging moments. Her example of personal growth inspired me to become the person I am today – an English teacher, but, above all, a person capable of overcoming all obstacles, no matter how difficult they may be. Also, I want to express my gratitude to my father, who, despite the distance, has always supported me and motivated me to reach my goals. To all my family, my grandma Margarita, my aunt Nancy, and uncle Pato, who supported me and became my second parents; my cousins, Cecibel, Diego, and Dennise, especially to Mateo and Tatiana who more than cousins are my siblings. Thanks to my love, for constantly encouraging me in every step of my personal and professional life. Finally, to all my friends for accompanying me along the journey.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my dear classmate and friend Anthony who since day one has always supported me and pushed me to continue going forward.

Kevin

First and foremost, I wholeheartedly dedicate this research paper to my grandma, Gerardina, who, since my early years, instilled in me values such as effort and dedication. Her outstanding life has been pivotal in shaping my accomplishments. I am also eternally grateful to my parents, Ana and Richard, who despite the distance, have supported me in their own way in all my decisions and goals. Special acknowledgments are reserved for my godparents, Martha and Santiago, who have been a wellspring of inspiration in my pursuit of professionalism. To my aunt Nancy, who has persistently advocated for my pursuit of professionalism, as well. My heartfelt gratitude goes to my entire family: without their unwavering support, none of this would have been possible. To my university classmates, who made university life more bearable.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my thesis partner and dear friend Kevin, who has been a fundamental part of the composition of this project; to him goes the relevant acknowledgment and credit for this work.

Anthony



Introduction

According to Fraser (2000), proficient pronunciation not only fosters mutual understanding among speakers but also conceals grammatical and lexical shortcomings; thus, its significance becomes paramount in the context of proficient communication. Although pronunciation comprises both segmental and suprasegmental aspects, many researchers have highlighted the importance of suprasegmentals for the development of intelligibility (Zarifi & Sayyadi, 2015). However, suprasegmental aspects have been overlooked in pronunciation teaching due to teachers' lack of knowledge of suprasegmental features, how to teach them, and insufficient teaching materials; consequently (Pourhosein & Banou, 2016). Therefore, this research synthesis aims to analyze the effects of using three different types of teaching materials (audiovisual, auditory, and ICTs) that can be useful for English teachers in teaching pronunciation to improve suprasegmental features.

This research synthesis is organized into five chapters. The first chapter provides an overview the research, including a description, the background, the problem statement, the rationale, the research question, and the objectives. The second chapter covers the theoretical framework which describes crucial concepts such as English pronunciation, pronunciation strategies, and audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials for teaching pronunciation; the literature review, which includes an overview of the research that has been carried out in the area of suprasegmental features, is also included in this chapter. The methodology is covered in the third chapter, which explains the inclusion of the criteria to select the studies and how the research was conducted. The fourth chapter details the analysis of the chosen studies divided into four different categories, which helped to address the research question and achieve the objectives. Finally, the fifth chapter includes the conclusions and recommendations of this research synthesis.



Chapter I: Description of the Study

1.1 Background

Teaching English as a second language (ESL) or foreign language (EFL) involves the development of learners' different skills, such as writing, listening, reading, and speaking, which also include different subskills. For instance, speaking is composed of mechanics involving correct grammar, vocabulary, and pronunciation (Kurum, 2016). Pronunciation knowledge involves not only segmental features, the perception and production of sounds, but also suprasegmental features, such as stress, intonation, and rhythm (Prashant, 2018).

Pronunciation may influence the flow and continuity of speech since poor pronunciation might lead to misunderstandings, requiring the listener to make a more significant effort to understand the speaker. Moreover, it can lead to low judgments of overall proficiency, especially by native speakers, who can assume that since the speaker does not have the pronunciation skills needed, he/she also lacks grammar and vocabulary knowledge (Backley, 2015). According to Fraser (2000), good pronunciation helps learners to be easily understood, outperforming grammar and vocabulary when these two are limited.

Furthermore, the importance of learners' knowledge of suprasegmental features for pronunciation has been underscored in ESL classrooms because they are linked to listeners' comprehension of speech and speakers' oral proficiency (Kostromitina & Kang, 2021). For example, these authors reported "that placing incorrect sentence stress or emphasizing every word in a run, regardless of its function or importance to the communicative purpose, can negatively affect listeners' comprehension" (p. 4). Thus, focusing on suprasegmental features in ESL classrooms is essential for helping learners improve their pronunciation skills.

Nevertheless, according to Burgess and Spencer (2000) and Breitkreutz et al. (2001), pronunciation is among the most important yet neglected aspects of teaching and learning in ESL classrooms.

According to Yoshida (2016), pronunciation teachers should be knowledgeable of the following aspects:

- the suprasegmental characteristics of the English language, such as rhythm, intonation, and stress.
- appropriate teaching strategies that, apart from handling repetition, include visual, sound, and technological materials to generate a noticeable impact on students and thus improve their pronunciation.

Therefore, teaching strategies that include auditory, visual, and ICT tools emerge as an alternative way to teach pronunciation more dynamically. Moreover, implementing such materials in ESL/EFL classrooms can be effective for teaching pronunciation.



After being implemented for some time with ESL learners, such tools have shown improvements in suprasegmental learning and, consequently, in their oral production. For instance, Saldıraner and Cinkara (2021) have recently highlighted the positive effects of using songs instead of textbooks when teaching pronunciation. In this study, the participants were asked to listen to specific song lyrics and sing along. The post-test results indicated a significant improvement in their motivation, vocabulary acquisition, and pronunciation comprehensibility. Yet, it should be considered that, in this study, the applicability of this tool is limited to only young learners, leaving aside other age groups such as adolescents and adults. Cartoons are another helpful material that have shown significant improvement in learners' pronunciation in ESL/EFL classrooms. For instance, Alghonaim (2020) found that children's exposure to cartoons at an early age can be crucial for developing proper pronunciation since cartoons are very interactive sources, which not only improve learners' pronunciation but also positively affect their motivation. Consequently, the participants unconsciously grasped specific patterns such as intonation, stress, and the rhythm of English, nearly acquiring a native accent. Although the study showed promising results in pronunciation, it considered only one specific case, a three-year-old child; therefore, the results cannot be generalized, and using cartoons in a classroom may not yield the same results with other learners. Nevertheless, cartoon usage can be considered an alternative strategy to actively engage the student in the learning process.

Implementing ICT tools in pronunciation teaching has become imperative since learners can develop a range of dialects and variants of non-native languages through technological tools (Anisimova et al., 2020). In fact, "learning with technology has become an essential part of education" (Anisimova et al., 2020, p. 200); they emphasize using YouTube since it is an essential tool for improving learners' pronunciation skills. In their survey research, the students mentioned the necessity of using pronunciation videos in their academic classes since they believe ICT tools are necessary to perceive a foreign accent more clearly.

Moreover, the students reported an improvement in their pronunciation skills thanks to using YouTube pronunciation tutorials. However, implementing technological tools should be balanced since pronunciation cannot be taught only with videos, so teachers are recommended to implement ICT tools hand in hand with other didactic materials to enhance learners' pronunciation skills.

1.2 Problem Statement

Even though pronunciation is a very important aspect of language learning, it has not been sufficiently addressed in ESL/EFL instruction for numerous reasons: a) uncertainty on the part of teachers when teaching pronunciation compared to other aspects such as grammar or lexis,



b) lack of knowledge on how to teach pronunciation to EFL learners, c) limited time allocated to pronunciation instruction in ESL classrooms, d) insufficient material or educational resources to teach pronunciation and e) the teachers' perspective on teaching pronunciation as a tedious or not-so-important aspect (Pourhosein & Banou, 2016).

Teachers' uncertainty when teaching pronunciation in ESL contexts is probably due to their lack of knowledge of strategies to teach pronunciation. In a study by Datko (2013), it was uncovered that student teachers at the university acquire knowledge to improve their own oral production but do not receive instruction on strategies to teach pronunciation per se.

Moreover, ESL/EFL teachers need more time to expose students to the language. For instance, in Malaysian secondary schools, Shah et al. (2017) stated that time constraints are reflected in the limited time and the many topics to be covered, which lead teachers to emphasize finishing such topics -that usually only focus on grammar and writing- and not on developing the learner's oral skills. Furthermore, the materials required to teach pronunciation are usually less readily available. Insufficient materials in EFL classrooms, such as textbooks on pronunciation, laboratories, computers, tape recorders, projectors, or audiovisual equipment, do not allow effective pronunciation teaching (Fatiloro, 2015; Nurkamto, 2003 as cited in Mumary, 2017). According to Pourhosein (2016), the lack of materials may impede teachers from basing their pronunciation teaching on explicit material, which makes the teaching process inconsistent.

Due to the previously mentioned factors, such as the lack of teacher training, the insufficient time allocated to pronunciation teaching, and the absence of materials suitable for use in classes, teachers may not give teaching pronunciation the attention it deserves. Additionally, Wei and Zhou (2002) supported the problematic situation of pronunciation teaching by stating that "pronunciation teaching is probably the most neglected aspect of English language teaching" since teachers consider it "not important at all" or do not know "how to teach pronunciation" (p.4). Therefore, teachers need the appropriate strategies and materials to encourage and improve their students' oral production. As Fraser (2000) pointed out, teachers should count on the necessary tools, methodology, and supplies to increase their knowledge of pronunciation instruction and be prepared to guide their students to achieve intelligible pronunciation.

Although pronunciation teaching has been gaining momentum in recent years in schools, it still can be limited by the factors mentioned above; therefore, since education is constantly evolving, and new pronunciation teaching instruments such as songs, cartoons, and ICT tools have shown to boost students' pronunciation skills, teachers should consider using these



modern strategies to foster students' pronunciation development and give pronunciation the attention it deserves.

Thus, this research synthesis aims to find out the effects of pronunciation teaching strategies that incorporate songs, cartoons, and ICT tools on learners' pronunciation, especially on suprasegmental features.

1.3 Rationale

The use of audiovisual materials for teaching pronunciation allows students to learn in a more dynamic way that does not involve only listening to information from a book but allows them to see, hear, and perform activities that will make them more interested in learning (Wulandari et al., 2008).

Several studies have supported promising effects of particular strategies for teaching pronunciation. For instance, Suwartono (2013) found that the inclusion of materials such as target language video clip samples and video recordings in the classroom can be beneficial for developing suprasegmental features without having to teach them explicitly, being also more engaging and more efficient. Likewise, Khoshsima et al. (2017) showed that complementing traditional pronunciation teaching techniques with ICT tools such as Computer Assisted Pronunciation Teaching (CAPT) software has a superior impact on the learning of suprasegmental features since those tools provide activities that are more focused on practicing without being explicit.

Therefore, the use of audiovisual material and technological tools can generate a significant impact on student learning and provide variety and dynamics in the classroom. However, these tools should not be overused to guarantee their effectiveness; otherwise, they will create a monotonous learning environment in which the same strategies and materials are used; in other words, these tools should complement the teaching processes (Yoshida, 2017).

Pronunciation teaching should be carried out by managing explicit instruction, which is based on the transmission of knowledge, and implicit instruction, which produces learning through exposure to subconscious input. The combination of these two instructions allows for the proper development of pronunciation skills (Naeini & Adni, 2017).

Through analyzing the effects of visual, auditory, and ICT tools on students' pronunciation, this research synthesis will provide insights for EFL teachers so that they can make informed decisions regarding pronunciation teaching.

1.4 Research Question

 What are the effects of using visual, auditory, and ICT tools on the suprasegmental features of EFL/ESL learners' pronunciation?



1.5 Objectives

1.5.1 General Objective

 To analyze the effects of using visual, auditory, and ICT tools on the suprasegmental features of EFL/ESL learners' pronunciation.

1.5.2 Specific Objectives

- To determine the advantages that visual, auditory, and ICT tools have on suprasegmental aspects of EFL/ESL learners' pronunciation.
- To determine the disadvantages of using visual, auditory, and ICT tools to develop suprasegmental features.



Chapter II: Theoretical Framework and Literature Review

2.1 Theoretical Framework

This chapter starts with definitions of segmental and suprasegmental features of English pronunciation. Then, it deals with pronunciation teaching strategies and auditory, visual, and ICT materials for teaching. These descriptions play a valuable role in understanding what will be discussed in the literature review section.

2.1.1 English Pronunciation: Segmentals and Suprasegmentals

According to Pourhosein (2016), "English Pronunciation is one of the most difficult skills to acquire and learners should spend lots of time to improve their pronunciation," in order to achieve intelligible pronunciation for the purpose of communication (p. 1). Besides mentioning the crucial role of pronunciation for learners, the author emphasized the importance of paying attention to the sounds of syllables and words, stress, and the rise and fall of the pitch when speaking, among other features of pronunciation.

Establishing the difference between segmental and suprasegmental features is important to understand their influence on learners' pronunciation performance. On the one hand, segmental features involve "all the consonant and vowel phonemes" (Sharma, 2021, p. 64). These features can be identified either physically or audibly and can be described by voicing, place of articulation, and mode of articulation of a sound (Sharma, 2021). On the other hand, Sharma (2021) stated that suprasegmental features apply to a group of sounds or an entire syllable of a spoken utterance rather than just a single sound and that suprasegmental features involve criteria such as "loudness, pitch, juncture and duration" (p. 67). Korkut and Çelik (2018) stated that suprasegmental features play a significant role in intelligibility and communication and have gained more attention in language education. Additionally, Zhang and Yuan (2020) reinforced the previous statement by saying that focusing on suprasegmental pronunciation instruction yields more significant improvements in comprehensibility compared to emphasizing segmental features.

2.1.2 Pronunciation Teaching Strategies

According to Yates and Zielinski (2008), pronunciation involves the composite knowledge of aspects linked to the production of individual sounds that denote meaning in speech (segmental aspects) and how these sounds are expressed orally, taking into account stress, rhythm, and intonation (suprasegmental aspects) to render oral production more precise and understandable. The author argued that pronunciation should be taught to lead students to acquire intelligible oral production instead of a native accent. Accordingly, it is advisable for teachers to use new technologies and adapt them to manage their students' oral communication better.



According to Sarode (2018), teaching strategies are "methods used to help students learn the desired course contents and be able to develop achievable goals in the future" (p. 58). Teaching strategies should be analyzed to ensure that the appropriate strategy is applied according to learners' needs. In fact, Berk (2009) stated that teaching strategies should adapt to the transformation the world is imposing on the field of education and that strategies involving multimedia, visual literature, face-to-face interaction, and internet content creation can significantly impact today's modern digitized education. Nevertheless, these strategies should be employed based on students' needs, learning styles, and characteristics if they are to serve as tools to enhance the language learning experience.

Shabani and Ghasemian (2017) outlined three main methods for teaching pronunciation: the intuitive-imitative approach, the analytic-linguistic approach, and the integrative approach. These methods rely on explicit, implicit, and integrative intervention. On the one hand, the intuitive method employs videos, websites, and programs that aim to acquaint the learner with the rhythm of the language through listening and imitating sounds without having to resort to explicit theoretical material. On the other hand, the analytical method is based on the implementation of explicit language teaching material such as vocal charts, phonetic alphabet, and articulation descriptions that are complemented with the aid of interactive technologies such as websites or programs. Finally, the integrative method aims to make pronunciation a process to be taught as part of communication and not as part of a process to be taught separately. The integrative method gives greater weight to developing aspects linked to communication in society, dialogue, and oral proficiency than segmental and suprasegmental aspects. Despite differences, all three methods can use technology to enhance students' oral skills, underlying the value of supplementing pronunciation teaching with this type of resource in ESL/EFL contexts.

Wei (2006) mentioned some strategies for teaching pronunciation, such as "providing meaningful materials," in which teachers adapt resources to use as examples to practice "linking, rhythm, stress or intonation" (p. 14). Another strategy the author mentioned is the "use of songs, games, and tongue twisters" (p. 14), which are directly related to student motivation. Finally, the last strategy mentioned is "assessing students' progress" (p. 14) which can be used to maintain their motivation toward learning pronunciation by assessing the learners' development.

2.1.3 Visual, Auditory, and ICT Tools for Teaching Pronunciation

Teaching aids have an essential role in language teaching since they help teachers to conduct their classes more interactively and dynamically. For instance, technology allows teachers to create a collaborative space for students, provide learners with real problems and scenarios,



and encourage students to think of different possible solutions (Ranasinghe & Leisher, 2009). According to Shabiralyani et al. (2014), visual aids are all those tools (images, pictures, maps, slides, videos, objects) that use the sense of sight as a receiver of valuable information to make the learning process more straightforward. Similarly, according to Abunowara (2016), auditory tools include TV commercials, cartoons, comedy shows, movies, radio news, documentaries, and music. These tools enable teachers to provide more authentic material and information in the target language.

Likewise, Floris (2014) stated that ICT tools are learning facilitators that include the internet, applications, cell phones, and other communication tools. These tools provide specific teaching exercises, up-to-date information, direct interaction, and authentic teaching material (videos, online newspapers, podcasts, newsrooms, and blogs), allowing the language learning process to develop according to the needs and pace of the learners. Using ICT tools has contributed to the management and organization of educational institutions; in addition, the speed and method of knowledge transfer from one person to another have increased thanks to e-learning (Talebian et al., 2014).

ICT tools enclose a diverse array of technological teaching resources such as "computers, electronic whiteboards, smartphones, and tablets," which are referred to as recent digital technologies (Fauville et al. 2014, p. 251). Additionally, Samoylenko et al. (2022) have mentioned more examples of ICT tools specifically used for education such as "Captivate, ESI, Cyber Listening Lab, Science News for Students, VoiceThread, Padlet," among others (p. 57). Nevertheless, we will narrow our focus to software specifically designed for teaching pronunciation so that we can analyze the effectiveness of different software concerning suprasegmental features.

2.2 Literature Review

This literature review is intended to provide a brief overview of studies that have been conducted regarding visual, auditory, and ICT tools implemented in pronunciation teaching, especially for teaching suprasegmentals.

2.2.1 Audiovisual Aids for Improving Pronunciation

Since visual material usually comprises audio material as well, instead of exploring visual materials alone, audiovisual material will be analyzed. This type of material provides several benefits for students, such as the development of independent student learning, the increase of student proactivity, and an immersive environment in which the student encounters a context that is closer to the actual use of the language in practice (Kamelia, 2019).

The incorporation of audiovisual resources in the educational setting can facilitate the development and understanding of phonological and phonemic aspects of language, as well



as contribute to the oral proficiency of students (Handayani, 2017; Hismanoglu, 2012; Massi & Blázquez, 2012; Syafitri et al., 2018; Trota et al., 2022). For instance, Massi and Blázquez (2012) and Maharani (2017) have pointed out the acquisition of phonemic and phonological features respectively with the implementation of audiovisual aids. On the one hand, phonological and phonemic features can be picked through implicit imagery coupled with the descriptiveness of a text which allows the language to be better analyzed in a context that takes into account the intonation, stress, and rhythm of the language. On the other hand, the appearance of images without a text enables students to cultivate speaking roles and thus encourage speech and participation. Likewise, Hismanoglu (2012) pointed out that exposing students to internet-based video lessons resulted in a breakthrough in the acquisition of primary stress on compound adjectives, and verbs, and an improvement in stress recognition of the last, penultimate, and antepenultimate syllables of certain English words, which was a problem for the students.

In the same vein, Trota et al. (2022) analyzed the incorporation of cartoons in the acquisition of the British accent of preschoolers, aged 4-5 years. They were exposed to the British show entitled "Peppa Pig" which, due to the nature of the British accent, influenced their acquisition of the accent. However, the results cannot be generalized to other learner groups such as adolescents or adults.

Furthermore, Handayani (2017) pointed out that the use of films for teaching English pronunciation is slightly more beneficial than the use of traditional teaching methods. In this study, the researcher made use of the film "Avatar The Legend of Aang." Before watching the film, the students' pronunciation was tested on words from the film script, which in turn, the students were recorded and tested for intonation and stress. A post-test was then administered to note the influence of the film on the linguistic characteristics (intonation and stress) of the students. Although the results showed slight improvements in intonation and stress, they were not much greater than the improvements obtained using traditional methods. However, watching the film did indeed have an impact on the students' sense of involvement since they reported that they enjoyed being taught through a movie as it kept them engaged and encouraged them to replicate what they saw and listened to in the film. One drawback of this study might be the fact that the data was only gathered from one class. In addition, Wulandari et al. (2008) suggested that the usage of audiovisual materials can improve knowledge retention due to the presence of subtitles, characters' gestures, and voiceovers, which in turn aided in the learning of suprasegmental elements such as word stress.

However, Blonskytė (2014) noted that audiovisual aids can divert attention from linguistic learning when there are too many visual aids and not enough linguistic input, and since these



tools were so easily accessible, students could also feel overburdened when exposed to these types of materials for an extended period of time.

2.2.2 Auditory Aids for Improving Pronunciation

Some studies have found gains in suprasegmental learning when using auditory aids (Moradi & Shahrokhi, 2014; Radia & Yacine, 2021). Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014) reported the effects of using music in pronunciation teaching. The participants had to read song lyrics, listen to songs, repeat parts of songs in a fragmented manner, and memorize the songs with the only difference being that the control group read the lyrics without the rhythm of the music. The results showed that the experimental group made improvements in the acquisition of suprasegmental characteristics such as intonation and stress pattern recognition. Nonetheless, the study shows few limitations as it does not provide any evidence of the improvement of rhythm, accent, or tone. Moreover, because only female students participated in the experiment, the authors suggested including male students to see how music can improve male students' pronunciation skills.

Radia and Yacine (2021) conducted a study to learn English rhythm and stress through songs. The process of acquiring rhythm was based on listening to a portion of the song, dividing the portions of the song into metrical feet, and identifying the head of each foot. The findings indicate that students' acquisition of stress and rhythm improved. Although the study does demonstrate benefits for the development of rhythm and stress, it provides little support for the development of other aspects of language such as intonation and accent.

2.2.3 ICT Tools for Improving Pronunciation

ICT tools, such as the use of software and e-learning, have aided suprasegmental learning (Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020; Gao & Hanna, 2016; Khoshsima et al., 2017; Nguyen & Takashi, 2022; Warisara, 2013). A study conducted by Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020) highlighted the advantages of MyET, which is the most well-known pronunciation software suitable for English learners of all ages in Iran. The software provides the correct pronunciation of drills or conversations, and the learners seek to replicate the correct pronunciation accurately since the main objective is to achieve successful imitation and produce desirable output. Through direct observation, reflective notes from researchers/teachers and learners, interviews, and the instant feedback and scores given to students by the software, the results revealed that the participants made a discernible degree of improvement in using suprasegmentals. For instance, some participants made evident progress in the use of stress and rising and



falling intonation, while other participants, in addition to increasing their suprasegmental skills, increased their self-awareness of the use of suprasegmental features, which led them to self-monitor and be self-conscious-of-their-pronunciation. The article emphasized that in comparison with segmental features, suprasegmentals have a more decisive influence on how listeners perceive the speech of non-native speakers. For instance, despite having subpar segmentation skills, one participant was more easily understood and made progress more quickly due to the proper use of prosody. Nonetheless, since the number of participants in this study was very small (5), the results cannot be generalized to different contexts. Additionally, Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020) recommended introducing this software to intermediate or advanced students and teaching them in a more comprehensive manner, which may involve more class time and sessions per week to obtain more insightful results.

Further studies, such as the one by Khoshsima et al. (2017), have also provided evidence of the effectiveness of using ICT tools. The software used was Clear Pronunciation 2, and it covered five suprasegmental elements of pronunciation such as "word stress, consonant clusters, sentence stress, connected speech, and intonation" (p. 107). The software provided introductory videos for each unit, followed by exercises that provided immediate feedback on student performance. After 6 weeks, students improved specific pronunciation aspects such as consonant clusters, word stress, connected speech, sentence stress and intonation, and mainly, oral expression. This study also shows that teaching suprasegmental features can significantly affect how learners perceive and produce their speech as well as the speech of native English speakers. However, neither restrictions on using Clear Pronunciation 2 software nor its drawbacks were mentioned in the study.

Moreover, Nguyen and Takashi (2022) carried out a study on the effectiveness of integrating the software VoiceThread as an ICT tool to enhance non-native English learners' skills. According to the study, VoiceThread is an online multimedia tool that enables students to complete their assignments on time, better understand the material, and mainly increase their oral communication skills while feeling less stressed and anxious. VoiceThread allows learners to upload images, audio files, and videos; moreover, they can make comments using a variety of options, including microphone input, webcam recording, text input, phone recording, and audio file uploads. Data was collected through The Scale for Assessing Speaking Tasks, in which participants rated their speaking performance before and after the course. The Course Satisfaction Questionnaire (CSQ) was designed to collect data from the participants after the



course. Once the course was finished, the students showed improvement in all five areas of speaking competence (fluency, vocabulary, grammar, attitude, and comprehension). It is worth mentioning that 50% of the students demonstrated improved fluency, which is favorable because fluency is a domain in which suprasegmental features fall (Trofimovich & Baker, 2006). The study evidenced that using VoiceThread as a teaching tool can help students become more fluent in speaking English. However, a limitation of this study is the small size of participants. Therefore, larger sample sizes of participants in future research may elucidate more information about the influence of VoiceThread on teaching and learning language skills.

Gao and Hanna (2016) carried out a study in which they implemented one of the most well-known pronunciation software, New Oriental Pronunciation, to find out how the software can affect learners' attitudes toward pronunciation and their oral performances. The software provides clear key concepts and explains phonological terms about segmental and suprasegmental features. Therefore, the learners were able to work on segmental features, "listen to samples of vowels and consonants, learn methods of articulation, and practice sounds with exercises," and suprasegmental features, "record their productions or words, phrases, and sentences, practice words and phrases with exercises, practice sentence intonation, stress, and rhythm" (p. 207). Data collection was carried out through pre-tests and post-tests, pre-surveys and postsurveys, classroom observations, and a questionnaire about the software. The results indicate notable enhancements in both attitudes and performance. In fact, the two experimental groups and one control group showed improvements in suprasegmental features, even though the improvements in segmental features were even greater. The study also mentioned that teacher feedback is crucial for young learners with a lowintermediate level of proficiency and limited autonomous learning to enhance their pronunciation skills with the aid of the software. A limitation mentioned in this article is that the time on the tasks was controlled, which means that software-specific characteristics, individual pacing, and independent practice by learners in their own time were excluded from consideration. Another limitation was the small pronunciation improvement since each session lasted only 45 minutes per day and only lasted for two weeks.

Additionally, Warisara (2013) used an e-learning program in a study to dig into the enhancement of English stress and intonation pronunciation of students at Nakhon Ratchasima Rajabat University, Thailand. Since Thai students had issues with the



placement of stress in words and the correct intonation in phrases, an e-learning program was created to help students make their stress and intonation pronunciation better. A pronunciation test and a questionnaire to assess the students' attitudes toward the use of the e-learning program were used. All the participants took a pretest to gauge their level of pronunciation, and a post-test to gauge their progress in pronouncing stress and intonation once they have learned and used the program's content. The results revealed that the participants improved their stress pronunciation as well as their intonation. Regarding the questionnaire, the majority of the participants believe that the e-learning program is good and can motivate them to significantly improve their stress and intonation pronunciation. Overall, the study demonstrated that the e-learning program can be a useful ICT tool to encourage learners to enhance their stress and intonation. The limitations that students had regarding stress and intonation were the pronunciation of words which consist of three syllables and phrases/sentences with rising intonation patterns. Limitations were also found in the e-learning program which according to the participants' questionnaire the content of the program should be more captivating, appealing, and pertinent to the objectives.



Chapter III: Methodology

A research synthesis, according to Cooper et al. (2019), is defined as the collection of characteristics observed in specific literature reviews. The current research synthesis intends to gather relevant data on the effects that audiovisual, auditory, and ICT tools exert on the development of English learners' suprasegmental features. In order to find suitable information, an in-depth research was conducted. Empirical studies were collected through relevant databases such as JSTOR, Taylor & Francis Online, ERIC, Research Gate, and Google Scholar. The following criteria were considered for selecting the sources. First, the articles had to be written in English and had to emphasize English suprasegmental aspects (rhythm, stress, pitch, intonation, and connected speech). Second, the studies had to be conducted in EFL or ESL contexts to have a broader range of information. Third, they had to be empirical since the data collected in these types of studies can serve to study the effectiveness of a solution using a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methodology (Gamper, 2017). Fourth, in order to gather updated information, the studies had to be published no earlier than 2009. The following keywords were used for finding the articles: (a) auditory aids, (b) visual aids, (c) ICT Tools, (d) podcasts, (e) movies, (f) software, (g) music, (h) programs, (i) and pronunciation teaching. No limitations were placed on the type of research design; in other words, the studies could follow a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed approach. The studies were compiled and researched digitally due to the complexity of obtaining them physically. Finally, the data collected from the empirical studies was categorized and analyzed according to the following criteria: pronunciation teaching, focus, context, research design, and advantages and disadvantages of the pronunciation teaching materials.

The following journals were examined to determine which studies to analyze: International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences; Arab World English Journal; Veda's Journal of English Language and Literature-JOELL; Transformative Dialogues: Teaching and Learning Journal; TESL Canada Journal; Computer-Assisted Language Learning Electronic Journal; The CATESOL Journal; TEFLIN Journal - a Publication on the Teaching and Learning of English; CALICO Journal; Journal of English and Education; Iranian Journal of Applied Language Studies; Language Learning Journal; Journal of Foreign Language Teaching and Learning; Journal of Studies in Learning and Teaching English; International Journal of Engineering Pedagogy; International Journal of English Linguistics; Journal of the College of Basic Education; Athens



Journal of Education; International Journal of Current Engineering and Scientific Research; Journal of Education and Practice; Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics; DOAJ: Directory of Open Access Journals - DOAJ; Journal of Education, Language Innovation, and Applied Linguistics; RELC Journal; The Language Learning Journal.



Chapter IV: Data Analysis

4. Data Analysis

In this chapter, 20 studies are analyzed according to the following categories: pronunciation teaching materials, focus, context, and research design, and advantages and disadvantages of the pronunciation teaching materials.

4.1 Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Table 1

Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Author/Year	Material	N
Alghonaim (2020); Alkadi and Nageeb Al Maktary (2022); Bataineh and Al-Qadi (2014); Damar (2014); Handayani (2017); Hismanoglu (2012); Namaziandost et al. (2018); Sinyashina and Balteiro (2023); Suwartono (2013); Trota et al. (2022).	Audiovisual Material	10
Fischler (2009); Herlina (2012); Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014); Radia and Yacine (2021)	Auditory Material	4
Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020); Gao and Hanna (2016); Khoshsima et al. (2017); Liu et al. (2018); Nguyen and Takashi (2022); Warisara (2013).	ICT Tools	6
Total		20

Table 1 shows the three teaching aids for English pronunciation that this research synthesis focuses on. As can be seen, the most notable characteristic is that auditory materials are used in four articles and ICT tools in six articles, whereas audiovisual materials (10 articles) represent the majority of the articles researched. A reason why audiovisual materials outnumber auditory materials and ICT tools could be the preference for using videos that show authentic material (in other words, material that is not designed for teaching pronunciation) since they are great tools for teaching and improving learners' pronunciation skills, specifically suprasegmental features (Alghonaim, 2020; Bataineh & Al-Qadi, 2014; Damar, 2014; Hismanoglu, 2012; Namaziandost et al., 2018; Sinyashina & Balteiro, 2023; Suwartono, 2013; Trota et al. 2022).



Table 1 also reveals that auditory materials alone constitute the least used aids to boost the acquisition of suprasegmental features of the English language; therefore, little information regarding the effects of auditory materials alone has been gathered, and it was a challenge to find articles that include these materials. From all the four studies that used auditory materials, Fischler (2009), Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014), and Radia and Yacine (2021) made use of songs (rap and English songs) as auditory materials whereas Herlina (2012) used English words presented to the participants in audio-form as auditory material, then the participants had to repeat them as accurately as possible after they listened to them. As can be seen, most of the studies used songs as the primary auditory material for targeting and improving suprasegmental features, which indicates that English songs seem to help EFL learners use suprasegmentals more effectively (Radia & Yacine, 2021); moreover, songs did not only improve learners' suprasegmental features but also helped the participants to recognize stressed syllables and their sense of autonomy was enhanced by their acquisition of metacognitive skills (Fischler, 2009).

4.2 Focus, Context, and Research Design

Table 2
Focus, Context, and Research Design

Country	Author and Date	Focus	Context	Rese arch Meth ods
Algeria	Radia and Yacine (2021)	Sentence Stress, and Rhythm Acquisition	30 Second Year Bachelor's Degree Students	Quantit ative Method
China	Gao and Hanna (2016)	Sentence Intonation, Pitch, Stress, and Rhythm Acquisition	60 participants (34 females and 26 males)	Mixed Method
China	Liu et al. (2018)	Pronunciation and Intonation Acquisition	32 participants	Mixed Method



Indonesia	Handayani	Pronunciation,		2 Classrooms	(60	Mixed
	(2017)	Intonation, and	t	students)		Method
		Stress Acquisition				



Indonesia	Herlina (2012)	Word Stress Acquisition	30 participants (22 females and 8 males)	Quantit ative Method
Indonesia	Suwartono (2013)	Stress and Intonation Acquisition	24 participants	Mixed Method
Iran	Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020)	Stress, Rhythm/Timing, and Intonation Acquisition	5 participants (3 females and 2 males)	Mixed Method
Iran	Khoshsima et al. (2017)	Sentence and Word Stress, Consonant Clusters, Connected Speech, and Intonation Acquisition	7 participants	Quantit ative Method
Iran	Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014)	Stress and Intonation Acquisition	30 participants (all females)	Quantit ative Method
Iran	Namaziandost et al. (2018)	Stress, Intonation, and Rhythm Acquisition	38 participants (all males)	Quantit ative Method
Japan	Nguyen and Takashi (2022)	Word Stress, Rhythm, and Intonation Acquisition	12 participants	Mixed Method
Philippines	Trota et al. (2022)	Accent Acquisition	2 Preschoolers (females of 4-5 years old)	Qualit ative Metho d



Saudi	Alghonaim	Accent	and	1	child-participant	(2	Mixed
Arabia	(2020)	Intonation		yea	ars)		Method



		Acquisition		
Saudi Arabia	Alkadi and Nageeb Al Maktary (2022)	Stress Acquisition	2 participants	Quantitat ive Method
Saudi Arabia	Bataineh and Al-Qadi (2014)	Intonation and Stress Acquisition	32 participants	Quantitat ive Method
Spain	Sinyashina and Balteiro (2023)	Word Stress Acquisition	40 participants (13 females and 9 males)	Mixed Method
Thailand	Warisara (2013)	Word Stress and Sentence Intonation Acquisition	40 participants	Mixed Method
Turkey	Damar (2014)	Stress and Intonation Acquisition	44 participants (32 females and 12 males)	Mixed Method
Turkey	Hismanoglu (2012)	Word Stress Acquisition	30 Turkish EFL learners (25 females and 5 males)	Qualitat ive Method
United States	Fischler (2009)	Word and Sentence Stress Acquisition	Six participants (different backgrounds)	Mixed Method

Table 2 details information concerning the location, focus, context, and research design of the analyzed articles. From all the 20 studies analyzed, most of the studies were conducted in Iran (4), followed by Indonesia (3), Saudi Arabia (3), China (2), Turkey (2), Algeria (1), Japan (1), Philippines (1), Spain (1), Thailand (1), and the United States (1). Hence, in Asia, there could be more possibilities to find studies focused on pronunciation compared to the other continents. In contrast, only one study was found on the American continent, which might suggest a potential need for increased research in suprasegmental learning in America.



Besides, only one study was carried out in a Spanish-speaking country (Sinyashina & Balteiro, 2023), which also suggests that more research is needed in this context.

Second, as can be shown in Table 2, of all the suprasegmental features, word and/or sentence stress and intonation are the most analyzed since these features are found and studied in almost all the studies. This might indicate that stress and intonation are crucial suprasegmental features to develop. Word and/or sentence stress and intonation have been studied using audiovisual, auditory, and ICT tools to determine the impact of those materials in developing learners' suprasegmental acquisition. For instance, Damar (2014) made use of videos to inquire about the development of learners' stress and intonation. In contrast, Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014) used music as the main material to improve stress patterns and intonation. Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020) made use of *My English Tutor* (MyET) application to explore the enhancement of suprasegmental features, especially on stress and rising and falling intonation.

Third, Table 2 reveals that a significant proportion of participants were females rather than males. As can be seen, each of the studies analyzed shows that the percentage of female participants was constantly higher in comparison to the percentage of males.

Finally, concerning the research method used, Table 2 shows that half of the studies used a quantitative methodology, the other half, a mixed methodology, and only two of them, a qualitative methodology. This indicates that to examine the improvement of suprasegmental features most of the studies used a Quantitative Method which provides empirical evidence of the effects of the materials used in the study. In addition to the quantitative method, half of the studies employed a qualitative method, and interviews were conducted in order to gather data concerning participants' opinions, feelings, and experiences (Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020).

4.3 Advantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Table 3

Advantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Author/Year	Material	Advantages	N
Alghonaim (2020); Bataineh and Al-Qadi (2014); Damar (2014); Hismanoglu (2012); Namaziandost et al. (2018); Sinyashina and Balteiro (2023); Suwartono (2013); Trota et al. (2022)	Audiovisual	Early exposure to the target language leads to the development of proper pronunciation skills (accent and intonation) at a faster pace. As well as authentic videos (cartoons, films, everyday English videos, captioned videos, etc.) have	8



	a positive effect on the	



		improvement of participants' suprasegmental skills such as intonationand word stress patterns.	
Fischler (200 9); Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014); Radia and Yacine (2021).	Auditory	Use of music (rap and English songs) improves participants' suprasegmental features, especially word and sentence stress patterns and intonation. The use of English audio tracks has also enhanced suprasegmental features such as word stress, rhythm, and intonation. Songs also improved participants' autonomy and helped to identify stressed syllables.	3
Bozorgian and Shamsi (2020); Gao and Hanna (2016); Khoshsima et al. (2017); Liu et al. (2018); Nguyen and Takashi (2022); Warisara (2013)	ICT Tools	Improvement in suprasegmental features such as stress, intonation, and rhythm is accomplished through the use of software designed for learning pronunciation. It is also evidenced that the best way in which improvements were made was when it was a combined instruction (human-aided and software- aided instruction).	6
Total			17

Table 3 shows the classification of the studies based on the advantages of each type of material. In this section, 17 of the 20 studies were analyzed as they provided detailed information on the advantages of using audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials on suprasegmental features.

In Table 3, it is noticeable that most studies reported advantages, which are mostly based on the improvement of stress and intonation features through audiovisual materials. To exemplify this, studies conducted by Alghonaim (2020), Hismanoglu (2012), Namaziandost et al. (2018),



Sinyashina and Balteiro (2023), and Trota et al. (2022) concluded that the use of authentic

audiovisual materials (i.e., videos series or movies and/or cartoons), promoted the learning of suprasegmental characteristics such as stress, intonation, and rhythm, which may constitute a difficulty for Asian learners. Nevertheless, the effectiveness was observed as long as the materials were genuine and were appropriately exposed to learners.

In addition, the studies conducted by Damar (2014), Handayani (2017), and Suwartono (2013) determined that the incorporation of films in language education appears to be particularly effective in enhancing motivation, enthusiasm, and overall participation in the language learning process; plus, demonstrating efficacy across adult and teens. Moreover, Trota et al. (2022) highlighted the importance of positive reinforcement through little rewards since it plays a part in increasing motivation, which is a key factor in the participants' language acquisition. Regarding the advantages of using auditory materials in the studies analyzed, Table 3 shows that most of the studies that made use of auditory materials had advantages in improving learners' suprasegmental features. For instance, Fischler (2009), Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014), and Radia and Yacine (2021) concluded that the use of songs (rap and English songs) had a positive effect in enhancing participants' intonation and stress patterns. Moradi and Shahrokhi (2014) evidenced that the experimental group outperformed the control group regarding suprasegmental articulation, including intonation and stress pattern. Fischler (2009) noted that the use of songs yields positive effects on enhancing participants' sense of autonomy through the development of metacognitive skills due to the use of songs meanwhile Radia and Yacine (2021) stated that songs help learners to recognize stressed syllables since they highlight English stress patterns.

Finally, Table 3 also shows the advantages of using ICT tools to improve learners' suprasegmental features. All of the six articles that made use of ICT tools in their studies reported advantages in enhancing suprasegmental features, which indicates that ICT software and programs are very practical tools for teaching pronunciation (Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020). To illustrate this, the results of Khoshsima's et al. (2017) study demonstrated that using *Clear Pronunciation 2* software improved learners' suprasegmental features such as word and sentence stress, connected speech, and intonation. These results were due to the application of a mixed methodology in which both the teacher and the software were involved in teaching pronunciation. In the same vein, the evidence gathered from Gao and Hanna's (2016) study showed that the combination of human-aided instruction and computer-aided instruction was the most effective way to teach pronunciation since the results of the post-tests were higher than the other groups.



4.4 Disadvantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Table 4
Disadvantages of the Pronunciation Teaching Materials

Author/Year	Material	Disadvantages	N
Alkadi and Nageeb Al Maktary (2022); Handayani (2017).	Audiovisual	 Using audio scripts and handouts required longer periods to master stress patterns Films did not make a significant difference when improving suprasegmental features. 	2
Herlina (2012)	Auditory	English words presented to the participants in audio form did not enhance learners' ability to produce English word stress correctly.	1
Gao and Hanna (2016)	ICT Tools	 Only software-aided instruction did not have a positive effect on improving learners' sentence intonation, pitch, stress, and rhythm as compared to human-aided instruction and combined instruction. 	1
Total			4

However, as illustrated in Table 4 only four studies presented clear evidence of the disadvantages of using audiovisual, auditory, or ICT material for teaching pronunciation.

First, regarding the audiovisual material, two studies highlight drawbacks associated with the use of this type of material: for instance, Alkadi and Nageeb Al Maktary (2022) observed that when instructing sentence stress through shadowing, students did not fully master it since they required a more prolonged exposure to the technique. Furthermore, the authors highlighted that learning through this imitative technique is an extensive and non-linear process influenced by students' level of interest. In the same vein, Handayani's (2017) results showed that focusing on pronunciation, intonation, and stress through movies does not significantly yield positive effects on improving suprasegmental features.



In the same vein, Herlina (2012) stated that the use of English words presented in audio form as auditory material (using the auditory priming method) did not achieve the desired level of improvement since it was almost the same as in the control group. Herlina (2012) claimed that the poor level of improvement was due to some factors such as the small sample of participants followed by some methodological problems such as the lack of a pre-test, which could have yielded a different outcome.

Lastly, Gao and Hanna's (2016) study showed a disadvantage at the moment of using the *New Oriental Pronunciation* software. The participants were enrolled in three different groups: a control group (human-aided instruction), a first experimental group (computer-aided instruction), and a second experimental group (combined instruction). At the end of the study, the results demonstrated that computer-aided instruction alone was less effective than human-aided instruction. The participants acknowledged, in their survey responses and classroom behavior, the limitations of both computer-aided instruction and human-aided instruction alone; therefore, the combined instruction was the best alternative to achieve greater improvement in participants' suprasegmental features.



Chapter V: Conclusions and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusions

This research study aimed to explore how audiovisual, auditory, and ICT tools impact the acquisition of suprasegmental features. This goal was accomplished through a thorough analysis of 20 studies which provided insights into the advantages, disadvantages, methodologies, and overall effectiveness of these tools in the acquisition of the aforementioned features. After conducting the analysis, the subsequent conclusions were derived.

Concerning the research question, "What are the effects of using visual, auditory, and ICT tools on the suprasegmental features of EFL/ESL learners' pronunciation?," the 20 studies indicate the effectiveness of visual, auditory, and technology-based materials in promoting suprasegmental learning such as accent and stress in the case of audiovisual materials, rhythm and intonation in the case of auditory ones, and word stress, sentence stress, and intonation regarding the use of ICT materials. The acquisition of these features involves engaging in activities that encompass imitation Alghonaim (2020), repetition Radia and Yacine (2021), and exposure to authentic resources that make use of language in its most natural form (Trota et al., 2022). Indeed, the incorporation of audiovisual and auditory materials has enabled students to acquire the accent and stress of the English language effortlessly without the need for explicit instruction. Meanwhile, the utilization of ICT tools implies their suitability in a supplementary role, given that technology itself cannot fully replace human instruction. For instance, as was seen in the study of Gao and Hanna (2016), only using the pronunciation software did not yield positive results, but it was the combination of teacher instruction and software instruction that yielded the best results for improving suprasegmental features. Therefore, the most impactful and well-supported resources that generated the best results in terms of enhancing participants' suprasegmental features are audiovisuals and ICT materials. Audiovisual materials were the ones that were found in most of the studies (with 10 studies). Regarding the first specific objective that deals with the benefits of audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials on suprasegmental aspects of pronunciation, the studies analyzed reported advantages when using different types of materials (audiovisual, auditory, and ICT materials): improvement in suprasegmental features such as word and sentence stress, intonation, rhythm, accent, pitch, and connected speech. For instance, from the studies that made use of audiovisual materials, the results showed that using authentic materials such as cartoons and Internet-based video lessons with young learners do promote the learning of word stress, intonation, pause and juncture, and English accent acquisition (Alghonaim, 2020; Hismanoglu, 2012; Namaziandost et al., 2018; Sinyashina & Balteiro, 2023; Trota et al., 2022).



In fact, Trota et al. (2022) concluded that early exposure to cartoons along with positive reinforcement to participants improves their acquisition of the English accent. Moreover, some studies also evidenced improvements in learners' involvement in the teaching process as well as increases in their motivation (Damar, 2014; Handayani, 2017; Suwartono, 2013). Likewise, concerning auditory materials, most of the studies concurred with the fact that the use of songs is beneficial for teaching pronunciation since suprasegmental improvements, especially in stress patterns and intonation features, were determined (Fischler, 2009; Moradi & Shahrokhi, 2014; Radia & Yacine, 2021). Finally, regarding the advantages of using ICT materials, one study indicated that participants "had improvement in connected speech, sentence stress, word stress, and intonation" after using the pronunciation software (Khoshsima et al., 2017, p. 118). The rest of the studies also highlighted the advantages of using ICT materials which stated that ICTs are powerful and efficient tools for teaching and improving suprasegmental features (Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020; Liu et al., 2018; Nguyen & Takashi, 2022; Warisara, 2013); however, Gao and Hanna (2016) pointed out the need to combine human-aided instruction with computer-aided instruction.

Regarding the second specific objective that deals with the drawbacks of the use of audiovisual, auditory, and ICT tools for teaching suprasegmentals, some disadvantages were pinpointed. As reported by Alkadi and Nageeb Al Maktary's (2022) study, shadowing English words by using audio and continuous repetition entailed learning concentration issues. In the same vein, Handayani (2017) and Herlina (2012) indicated that the expected results of using audiovisual and auditory materials respectively were not achieved and the participants' suprasegmental features such as intonation and word stress did not improve. Additionally, Gao and Hanna (2016) highlighted that no improvements were found when using only computer-aided instruction for teaching word stress, sentence stress, rhythm, intonation, and pitch.

Some implications for the teaching field can be drawn. Teachers should be concerned about the teaching of suprasegmental features since they are crucial for the development of proficiency in communication (Bataineh & Al-Qadi, 2014; Suwartono, 2013); therefore, the curriculum for teaching EFL/ESL should prioritize teaching suprasegmental features (Damar, 2014) which can be done by using different materials such as English TV programs, which can increase student motivation and improve oral communication (Namaziandost et al., 2018). Furthermore, due to the effectiveness of using music for improving stress and intonation patterns, EFL teachers should employ music to help learners improve pronunciation, stress, and intonation patterns (Moradi & Shahrokhi, 2014). Additionally, regarding the use of ICT materials, English teachers must receive sufficient and effective training before integrating



technology (pronunciation software) into the class as well as sufficient preparation for teaching pronunciation and improving their pronunciation (Gao & Hanna, 2016; Nguyen & Takashi, 2022). ICT materials should be integrated into English classrooms since they can aid both teachers and students in teaching and learning suprasegmental features at all proficiency levels with the help of instant feedback; in fact, ICT materials help students lower their anxiety, boost their confidence, and save time and money (Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020; Khoshsima et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2018).

5.2 Recommendations

Based on the insights synthesized in this research, the following recommendations can be considered. First and foremost, since it is evident that there is an emphasis on the benefits of the use of audiovisual and ICT materials for teaching children, pre-teens, teens, and adults, teachers should utilize these materials when teaching suprasegmentals to learners of all ages. Nevertheless, incorporating these materials along with explicit instruction is advisable for both young and adult learners, given that this combination might provide greater benefits (Khoshsima et al., 2017; Hismanoglu, 2012; Bozorgian & Shamsi, 2020).

Secondly, there is a need for research focused on the application of these materials within Latin American contexts to assess their effectiveness of teaching suprasegmental features since gathering empirical information from these contexts will provide a greater understanding of the significance of suprasegmentals for English language learning, which can contribute to the development of more effective instructional practices. Even though audiovisual studies showed efficacy with children, pre-teens, teens, and adults, it is important to highlight that the number of children participants was limited(Trota et al., 2022; Alghonaim, 2020; Alkadi & Nageeb Al Maktary, 2022). This suggests a need for further research specifically concentrating on the utilization of these materials with children to determine the influence of such materials on their learning process. Finally, since not enough studies that use auditory tools alone were found, more research is needed to determine their effects on fostering the development of suprasegmental features.



References

- Abunowara, A. M. (2016). Using Technology in EFL/ESL Classroom. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, *1*(2), 7–23. http://www.ijhcs.com/index.php/ijhcs/article/download/29/26
- Alghonaim, A. S. (2020). Impact of Watching Cartoons on Pronunciation of a child in an EFL setting: A comparative study with problematic sounds of EFL learners. *Arab World English Journal*, *11*(1), 52–68. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3581322
- Alkadi, A. M., & Nageeb Al Maktary, M. (2022). Acoustic Account of Prosodic Competence through Shadowing. *Journal of English Studies in Arabia Felix*, 1(1), 24–41. https://doi.org/10.56540/jesaf.v1i1.8
- Anisimova, O. V., Bobodzhanova, L. K., Kolobova, K. S., & Makarova, I. S. (2020). Integration of internet tools to enhance pronunciation skills: Effectiveness of educational content on YouTube. *Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems*, *131*, 199–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47415-7 21
- Backley, P. (2015). Improving your English Pronunciation. https://www.tohoku-gakuin.ac.ip/research/journal/bk2013/pdf/no02 07.pdf
- Bataineh, A. M., & Al-Qadi, N. (2014). The effect of using authentic videos on English major students' prosodic competence. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *5*(3), 157–172. https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEP/article/download/10729/20018
- Berk, R. A. (2009). Teaching Strategies for the Net Generation. *Transformative Dialogues:* Teaching and Learning Journal, 3(2). https://td.journals.psu.edu/td/article/view/983
- Blonskytė, M. (2014). Case Study of the Use of Video Material in an English Classroom. Studies About Languages, 25, 97–105. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.sal.0.25.8341
- Bozorgian, H., & Shamsi, E. (2020). Computer-Assisted Pronunciation Training on Iranian EFL Learners' Use of Suprasegmental Features: A Case Study. *Computer-Assisted Language Learning Electronic Journal*, *21*(2), 93–113. http://callej.org/journal/21-2.html
- Breitkreutz, J., Derwing, T. M., & Rossiter, M. J. (2001). Pronunciation teaching practices in Canada. *TESL Canada Journal*, *19*(1), 51–61. https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v19i1.919
- Burgess, J., & Spencer, S. (2000). Phonology and pronunciation in integrated language teaching and teacher education. *System*, *28*(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0346-251x(00)00007-5
- Cooper, H., & Hedges, L. (2019). Research Synthesis as a Scientific Process. In *Russell Sage Foundation eBooks* (pp. 3–16). https://doi.org/10.7758/9781610448864.4



- Damar, E. A. (2014). Task-Based video use for the improvement of English stress and intonation. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, *4*(2), 227–233. https://doi.org/10.5901/jesr.2014.v4n2p227
- Datko, J. (2013). An Inspection of High School EFL Teachers' Views on Their Confidence in Teaching Correct English Pronunciation. ResearchGate.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/272486335_An_Inspection_of_High_School_EFL_Teachers%27 Views on Their Confidence in Teaching Correct English

 _Pronunciation
- Fauville, G., Lantz-Andersson, A., & Säljö, R. (2014). ICT Tools in Environmental Education: Reviewing Two Newcomers to Schools. *Environmental Education Research*, *20*(2), 248–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.775220
- Fischler, J. (2009). The Rap on Stress: Teaching Stress Patterns to English Language
 Learners Through Rap Music. *Minnesota and Wisconsin Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages*, 26.
 https://conservancy.umn.edu/handle/11299/109937
- Floris, F. D. (2014). Using Information and Communication Technology (ICT) to Enhance Language Teaching. *TEFLIN Journal a Publication on the Teaching and Learning of English*, 25(2), https://doi.org/10.15639/teflinjournal.v25i2/139-164
- Fraser, H. (2000). Coordinating improvements in pronunciation teaching for adult learners of English as a second language. *DETYA (ANTA Innovative project)*. https://helenfraser.com.au/wp-content/uploads/ANTA-REPORT-FINAL.pdf
- Gamper, J. (2017). Research Methods Empirical/Experimental CS Research Methods. *Free University of Bozen-Bolzano*. https://www.inf.unibz.it/~calvanese/teaching/2016-01-PhD-RM/RM-2016-M5-gamper.pdf
- Gao, Y., & Hanna, B. E. (2016). Exploring Optimal Pronunciation Teaching: Integrating Instructional Software into Intermediate-level EFL Classes in China. *CALICO Journal*, 33(2), 201–230. https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.v33i2.26054
- Handayani, D. (2017). Teaching English Pronunciation Using Film. *Journal of English and Education*, *5*(2), 194–201. http://ejournal.upi.edu/index.php/L-E/article/view/10198
- Herlina, C. (2012). Auditory Repetition Priming for English Word Stress Applying Auditory Priming in Teaching English Word Stress. *Indonesian JELT*, 8(2), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.25170/ijelt.v8i2.1524
- Hismanoglu, M. (2012). Teaching Word Stress to Turkish EFL (English as a Foreign Language) Learners Through Internet-Based Video Lessons. *US-China Education Review*, 26–40. https://doi.org/10.17265/2161-623X/2014.01A.004



- Kamelia, K. (2019). Using Video as Media of Teaching in English Language Classroom: Expressing Congratulation and Hopes. *Utamax*, 1(1), 34–38. https://doi.org/10.31849/utamax.v1i1.2742
- Khoshsima, H., Saed, A., & Moradi, S. (2017). Computer Assisted Pronunciation Teaching (CAPT) and Pedagogy: Improving EFL learners' Pronunciation Using Clear Pronunciation 2 Software. *Iranian Journal of Applied Language Studies*, *9*(1), 97–126. https://doi.org/10.22111/ijals.2017.3167
- Korkut, P., & Çelik, Ö. (2018). Developing pronunciation through creative drama. *Language Learning Journal*, 49(2), 147–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2018.1491058
- Kostromitina, M., & Kang, O. (2021). The Effects of ESL Immersion and Proficiency on Learners' Pronunciation Development. *Frontiers in Communication*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2021.636122
- Kurum, E. (2016). Teaching Speaking Skills. ResearchGate, 1(3), 45–64.

 https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ekrem-Solak/publication/309293240 Teaching Listening Skills/links/5808ab8e08ae07cba

 a55af8a/Teaching-Listening-Skills.pdf
- Liu, X., Zhu, C., Jiao, J., & Xu, M. (2018). Promoting English pronunciation via Mobile Devices-Based Automatic Speech Evaluation (ASE) technology. In *Blended Learning*. *Enhancing Learning Success* (Vol. 10949, pp. 333–343). Lecture Notes in Computer Science. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94505-7_27
- Maharani, S. (2017). The Effectiveness of Audio-Visual Aids in Teaching Pronunciation. *THE 5TH URECOL PROCEEDING*, *15*(5), 96–102. https://pdfcoffee.com/suci-maharani-96-102-pdf-pdf-free.html
- Massi, M., & Blázquez, B. (2012). A Short is Worth a Thousand Films. *The Journal of Teaching English With Technology*, *12*(3), 62–86.

 https://tewtjournal.org/download/6-a-short-is-worth-a-thousand-films-by-maria-palmira-massi-and-bettiana-andrea-blazquez/
- Moradi, F., & Shahrokhi, M. (2014). The Effect of Listening to Music on Iranian Children's Segmental and Suprasegmental Pronunciation. *English Language Teaching*, 7(6). https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v7n6p128
- Mumary, A. (2017). Challenges in Teaching English Faced by English Teachers at MTsN Taliwang, Indonesia. *Journal of Foreign Language Teaching and Learning*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.18196/ftl.2223



- Naeini, B., & Adni, Z. (2017). The Impact of Explicit vs. Implicit Instruction on Pronunciation Intelligibility among Iranian EFL Learners. *Journal of Studies in Learning and Teaching English*, 6(2), 103–123. https://jslte.shiraz.iau.ir/article_546173.html
- Namaziandost, E., Esfahani, F. R., & Hashemifarnia, A. (2018). The Impact of Using Authentic Videos on Prosodic Ability among Foreign Language Learners.

 International Journal of Instruction, 11(4), 375–390.

 https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2018.11424a
- Nguyen, T., & Takashi, Y. (2022). Online Course Design Using VoiceThread with TPACK Model to Enhance English Speaking Skills for Non-native Learners. *International Journal of Engineering Pedagogy (iJEP)*, *12*(1), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijep.v12i1.24407
- Pourhosein, A. (2016). English Pronunciation Instruction: A Literature Review. *International Journal of Research in English Education, 1(1), 1-6., 1(1).*http://iireeonline.com/article-1-21-en.html
- Pourhosein, A., & Banou, N. (2016). Why is English pronunciation ignored by EFL teachers in their classes? *International Journal of English Linguistics*, *6*(6), 195. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijel.v6n6p195
- Prashant, P. D. (2018). Importance of pronunciation in English Language communication.

 *Research Papers in Economics, 7(2), 15–20.

 http://www.voiceofresearch.org/doc/Sep-2018/Sep-2018_5.pdf
- Radia, B., & Yacine, M. H. (2021). Enhancing EFL Learners' Mastery of Suprasegmentals via English Songs. *Journal of the College of Basic Education*, *2021*(2), 17–31. https://www.iasj.net/iasj/article/213218
- Ranasinghe, A., & Leisher, D. (2009). The Benefit of Integrating Technology into the Classroom. *International Mathematical Forum*, *4*(37–40), 1955–1961. https://www.m-hikari.com/imf-password2009/37-40-2009/index.html
- Saldıraner, G., & Cinkara, E. (2021). Using songs in teaching pronunciation to young EFL learners. *PASAA*, *62*, 119–141.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/359501665_Using_Songs_in_Teaching_P
 ronunciation to Young EFL Learners
- Samoylenko, N., Zharko, L., & Glotova, A. V. (2022). Designing Online Learning Environment: ICT Tools and Teaching Strategies. *Athens Journal of Education*, *9*(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.9-1-4
- Sarode, D. (2018). Teaching Strategies, Styles and Qualities of a Teacher: A Review for Valuable Higher Education. *International Journal of Current Engineering and*



- Scientific Research., 5(2393–8374), 58.
- http://troindia.in/journal/ijcesr/vol5iss5part2/57-62.pdf
- Shabani, K., & Ghasemian, A. (2017). Teacher's personality type and techniques of teaching pronunciation. *Cogent Education*, *4*(1), 1313560. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2017.1313560
- Shabiralyani, G., Hasan, K. S., Hamad, N., & Iqbal, N. (2014). Impact of Visual Aids in Enhancing the Learning Process Case Research: District Dera Ghazi Khan. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *6*(19), 226–233. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1079541.pdf
- Shah, S. S. A., Othman, J., & Senom, F. (2017). The Pronunciation Component in ESL Lessons: Teachers' Beliefs and Practices. *Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 6(2), 193. https://doi.org/10.17509/ijal.v6i2.4844
- Sharma, L. R. (2021). Significance of Teaching the Pronunciation of Segmental and Suprasegmental Features of English. *Interdisciplinary Research in Education*, *6*(2), 63–78. https://doi.org/10.3126/ire.v6i2.43539
- Sinyashina, E., & Balteiro, I. (2023). Incidental Learning of Word Stress with Captioned Authentic Videos: The Effect of Repetition. *Asociación Española De Lingüística Aplicada (AESLA)*, 22(1), 19–39. https://doi.org/10.58859/rael.v21i1.494
- Suwartono, S. (2013). Enhancing the Pronunciation of English Suprasegmental Features through Reflective Learning Method. *DOAJ: Directory of Open Access Journals DOAJ*, *25*(1). https://doi.org/10.15639/teflinjournal.v25i1/80-93
- Syafitri, A., Asib, A., & Sumardi, S. (2018). An application of PowToon as a Digital medium: Enhancing students' pronunciation in speaking. *International Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding*, *5*(2), 295. https://doi.org/10.18415/ijmmu.v5i2.359
- Talebian, S., Mohammadi, H., & Rezvanfar, A. (2014). Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in Higher Education: Advantages, Disadvantages, Conveniences and Limitations of Applying E-learning to Agricultural Students in Iran. *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 152, 300–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.199
- Trofimovich, P., & Baker, W. (2006). Learning Second Language Suprasegmentals: Effect of L2 Experience on Prosody and Fluency Characteristics of L2 Speech. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, *28*(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0272263106060013
- Trota, M., Cabeltis, C., Cadiente, N., Ligan, M., Asoy, N., & Bardaje, Z. (2022). The influence of watching English cartoons on English language acquisition: a case of selected



- Filipino preschoolers. *JELITA Journal of Education Language Innovation and Applied Linguistics*, 1(2), 105–124. https://doi.org/10.37058/jelita.v1i2.5249
- Warisara, Y. (2013). Improving English Stress and Intonation Pronunciation of the First Year Students of Nakhon Ratchasima Rajabhat University through an e-Learning.

 Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 91, 444–452.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.08.442
- Wei, M. (2006). A Literature Review on Strategies for Teaching Pronunciation. *ERIC*. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED491566
- Wei, Y., & Zhou, Y. (2002). Insights into English Pronunciation Problems of Thai Students. *ERIC*. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED476746.pdf
- Wulandari, A., Laila, M., & Prasetyarini, A. (2008). Improving Students' Pronunciation Using Audio-Visual Aids (AVAs) at the Fifth Year of Al-Azhar Syifa Budi Elementary School of Surakarta in Academic Year 2007/2008 (A Classroom Action Research). *Portal Publikasi Ilmiah UMS*, 20(1), 1–10. http://hdl.handle.net/11617/167
- Yates, L., & Zielinski, B. (2008). Give it a go: Teaching Pronunciation to Adults. *Adult Migrant English Program (AMEP) Research Centre, Macquarie University*.

 http://www.ameprc.mq.edu.au/ data/assets/pdf_file/0006/276135/interactive_sm.p
- Yoshida, M. T. (2016). Beyond Repeat after Me: Teaching Pronunciation to English
 Learners. TESOL Press. Available from: TESOL International Association. 1925
 Ballenger Avenue Suite 550, Alexandria, VA 22314.
 http://www.tesol.org/docs/default-source/books/14038_sam.pdf?sfvrsn=2
- Yoshida, M. T. (2017). Choosing Technology Tools to Meet Pronunciation Teaching and Learning Goals. *The CATESOL Journal*, *30*(1), 209. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1174226.pdf
- Zarifi, A., & Sayyadi, A. (2015). How English suprasegmental features of pronunciation are viewed and treated by instructors in Iranian private language centers. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *5*(6), 1166. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0506.06
- Zhang, R., & Yuan, Z. (2020). Examining the Effects of Explicit Pronunciation Instruction on the Development of L2 Pronunciation. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 42(4), 905–918. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0272263120000121